**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA  
NO. 19-0048**

---

**DAVID MICHAEL JOHNSTON,  
Petitioner-Appellant,**

**vs.**

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,  
Respondent-Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY,  
HONORABLE JEANIE VAUDT**

---

**PETITIONER-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Christopher Stewart  
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn  
Boles Gribble Gentry  
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.  
2910 Grand Avenue  
Des Moines, Iowa 50312  
Telephone: (515) 284-5737  
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704  
Email: cstewart@parrishlaw.com

Michelle Elizabeth Rabe  
Assistant Attorney General  
Iowa Department of Transportation  
General Counsel Division  
800 Lincoln Way

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

### **I. THE IDOT FAILED TO PROVIDE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE JOHNSTON IS A HABITUAL OFFENDER FOR PURPOSES OF IOWA CODE SECTION 321.555 AND HIS DRIVING PRIVILEGES SHOULD BE RESTORED**

#### **Iowa Supreme Court Cases**

*Ahrendsen v. Iowa Dep't of Human Servs.*, 613 N.W.2d 674 (Iowa 2000)

*Ames 2304, LLC v. City of Ames, Zoning Bd. of Adjustment*, 924 N.W.2d 863 (Iowa 2019)

*Bromeland v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 562 N.W.2d 624 (Iowa 1997)

*Burton v. Hilltop Care Ctr.*, 813 N.W.2d 250 (Iowa 2012)

*Carolan v. Hill*, 553 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996)

*Ghost Player, LLC v. Iowa Dep't of Econ. Dev.*, 906 N.W.2d 454 (Iowa 2018)

*Gospel Assemb. Church v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue*, 368 N.W.2d 158 (Iowa 1985)

*Griffin Pipe Prods. Co. v. Bd. of Review*, 789 N.W.2d 769 (Iowa 2010)

*In the Interest of G.J.A.*, 547 N.W.2d 3 (Iowa 1996)

*Iowa Dep't of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 530 N.W.2d 725 (Iowa 1995)

*Iowa Dep't of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 539 N.W.2d 191 (Iowa 1995)

*Johnson v. Johnson*, 564 N.W.2d 414 (Iowa 1997)

*Lee v. State*, 815 N.W.2d 731 (Iowa 2012)

*Metz v. Amoco Oil. Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)

*Meyer v. IBP, Inc.*, 710 N.W.2d 213 (Iowa 2006)

*N.W. Bell Tel. Co. v. Iowa St. Commerce Comm'n*, 359 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa 1984)

*Off. of Consumer Advoc. v. Iowa St. Commerce Comm'n*, 465 N.W.2d 280 (Iowa 1991)

*Pointer v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 546 N.W.2d 623 (Iowa 1996)

*Presbytery of S.E. Iowa v. Harris*, 226 N.W.2d 232 (Iowa 1975)

*Reed v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 478 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 1991)

*Schilling vs. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 69 (Iowa 2002)

*Shaw v. Soo Line R.R. Co.*, 463 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 1990)

*State v. Brauer*, 540 N.W.2d 442 (Iowa 1995)

*State v. Hanna*, 179 N.W.2d 503 (Iowa 1970)

*State v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 455 N.W.2d 918 (Iowa 1990)

*State v. Kluesner*, 389 N.W.2d 370 (Iowa 1986)

*State v. Phelps*, 417 N.W.2d 460 (Iowa 1988)

*State v. Sailer*, 587 N.W.2d 756 (Iowa 1998)

*State v. Tong*, 805 N.W.2d 599 (Iowa 2011)

*State v. Wiseman*, 614 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa 2000)

*Welch v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 801 N.W.2d 590 (Iowa 2011)

*Westling v. Hormel Foods, Corp.*, 810 N.W.2d 247 (Iowa 2012)

#### **Additional Iowa Court Cases**

*Schaefer v. Iowa Dep't of Trans.*, No. 02-0580, 2002 WL 1842482 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 14, 2002)

*State v. Schweitzer*, 646 N.W.2d 117 (Iowa Ct. App. 2002)

*Thompson v. Fowler*, No. 17-0284, 2017 WL 6513973 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2017)

#### **Additional Authorities**

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Iowa Code § 17A.19(7)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(a)–(n)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(n)

Iowa Code § 321.1(15)

Iowa Code § 321.209

Iowa Code § 321.215

Iowa Code § 321.215(1)(b)

Iowa Code § 321.279

Iowa Code § 321.279(1)

Iowa Code § 321.279(3)(a)

Iowa Code § 321.491(2)(a)

Iowa Code §321.555

Iowa Code § 321.555(1)(b)

Iowa Code § 321.555(1)(f)

Iowa Code § 321.556(3)

Iowa Code § 321.560

Iowa Code § 321J.2

Iowa Code § 805.6

Iowa R. App. P. 6.110

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.110, the Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case as it presents a significant issue of law where there is no controlling precedent from the Iowa Supreme Court or Iowa Court of Appeals on one point of this appeal, which creates an issue of first impression and of public importance that should be determined by the Iowa Supreme Court. Specifically, although this Court has ruled on Iowa Code section 321.555 previously, this appeal presents a new issue of application regarding Iowa Code section 321.555 for review.

## **CASE STATEMENT**

David Michael Johnston appeals the district court's dismissal of his Petition for Judicial Review of a final agency action by the Iowa Department of Transportation (hereinafter IDOT). The agency imposed a five-year bar on his driving privileges as a habitual offender under Iowa Code section 321.555.

## **FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

From the Appellant's perspective, the facts of this case are not in dispute. On December 23, 2011, Johnston was arrested and charged with Operating While Intoxicated (First Offense) in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2. (App. 4). Johnston was convicted of this offense on March 8, 2012. (App. 4). On November 12, 2017, Johnston was arrested and charged with Operating While Intoxicated (Second Offense) in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2 and Eluding in violation

Iowa Code section 321.279(3)(a). (App. 4). On April 19, 2018, he was convicted of the Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) charge and granted a deferred judgment as to the Eluding charge. (App. 9).

On April 23, 2018, the IDOT issued an official notice that it was barring Johnston's privilege to operate and drive motor vehicles effective May 28, 2018, until April 23, 2023. (App. 4). The notice was issued under Iowa Code section 321.560 because the IDOT had determined Johnston was a habitual offender under the provisions of Iowa Code section 321.555, namely:

As used in this section and sections 331.556 through 321.562, "habitual offender" means any person who has accumulated convictions for separate and distinct offenses described in subsections 1, 2, or 3, committed after July 1, 1974, for which final convictions have been rendered, as follows:

1. Three or more of the following offenses, either singularly or in combination, within a six-year period:

....

2. Six or more of any separate and distinct offenses within a two-year period in the operation of a motor vehicle . . . .

Iowa Code § 321.555 (1)–(2) (2017). (App. 5-6). The IDOT cited December 23, 2011 and November 12, 2017 as the dates of the violations at law. (App. 4-5).

Johnston appealed the revocation and a telephone hearing was held on July 12, 2018 before an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ). (App. 4). On July 19, 2018, a decision was rendered sustaining the IDOT's revocation determination. (App. 6). Johnston appealed the findings of the ALJ to an IDOT reviewing officer. (App. 7-

8). The reviewing officer issued an order affirming the decision of the ALJ on August 31, 2018. (App. 10). Johnston filed a Petition for Judicial Review on September 28, 2018 and the district court heard oral arguments on December 13, 2018. (App. 11). The district court dismissed Johnston's Petition for Judicial Review on December 26, 2018. (App. 16)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Final administrative agency action is subject to judicial review. Iowa Code § 17A.19. The exercise of judicial review of final agency action is for the correction of errors at law. *N.W. Bell Tel. Co. v. Iowa St. Commerce Comm'n*, 359 N.W.2d 491, 492 (Iowa 1984). Relief may be granted if the agency action prejudiced the substantial rights of the petitioner and the action falls under any one of several enumerated criteria. *See* Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(a)–(n) *accord* *Ghost Player, LLC v. Iowa Dep't of Econ. Dev.*, 906 N.W.2d 454, 462 (Iowa 2018). Standards contained in Iowa Code section 17A.19(10) are applicable in determining whether the appellate court reaches the same result as the district court. *Burton v. Hilltop Care Ctr.*, 813 N.W.2d 250, 255 (Iowa 2012).

The ultimate question is not whether the evidence submitted to the agency supports a different conclusion but whether the evidence supports the findings actually made. *Pointer v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 546 N.W.2d 623, 625 (Iowa 1996) (citation omitted). The court should reverse if it comes to a different conclusion than

the district court. *Westling v. Hormel Foods, Corp.*, 810 N.W.2d 247, 251 (Iowa 2012). Where the IDOT has not been clearly vested with the discretion to interpret the statute, no deference is given to their interpretation and the court is free to substitute its de novo review for the agency's interpretation. *Welch v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 801 N.W.2d 590, 594 (Iowa 2011). "Evidence is substantial when a reasonable person would accept it as adequate to reach the same findings. The ultimate question is not whether the evidence supports a different finding but whether the evidence supports the findings actually made." *Pointer v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 546 N.W.2d 623, 625 (Iowa 1996) (citing *Reed v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 478 N.W.2d 844, 846 (Iowa 1991)).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE IDOT FAILED TO PROVIDE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE JOHNSTON IS A HABITUAL OFFENDER FOR PURPOSES OF IOWA CODE SECTION 321.555 AND HIS DRIVING PRIVILEGES SHOULD BE RESTORED**

Johnston's appeal is premised on three arguments as to why he should not be classified as a habitual offender for the purposes of Iowa Code section 321.555 and why his driving privileges should be restored.

First, Johnston argues the deferred judgment he received for his eluding charge, which was ultimately expunged from his record, should not count for the purposes of calculating whether he is a habitual offender under Iowa Code section 321.555. Alternatively, Johnston argues the dates of convictions for the three (3)

includable charges should be used instead of the dates of the offenses. Lastly, Johnston argues the IDOT failed to produce evidence that he was eluding a pursuing law enforcement vehicle as required by Iowa Code section 321.555(1).

For these reasons, the IDOT's determination that Johnston is a habitual offender pursuant to Iowa Code section 321.555(1) should be overturned and Johnston's driving privileges should be reinstated.

**A. A Deferred Judgment is Not a “Final Conviction” for Purposes of Iowa Code Section 321.555(1)**

**1. Preservation of Error**

Johnston's claim that a deferred judgment is not a “final conviction” under Iowa Code section 321.555(1) was raised at the administrative and district court levels and ruled upon by the district court. Error preservation “requires that issues must be presented to and passed upon by the district court before they can be raised and decided on appeal.” *Metz v. Amoco Oil. Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597, 600 (Iowa 1998). Error has been preserved on this point.

**2. Argument**

Iowa Code section 321.555 only accumulates convictions “for which *final convictions* have been rendered.” Iowa Code § 321.555 (emphasis added). Because Johnston was granted a deferred judgment on his eluding violation, that conviction is not “final” within the meaning of the statute and therefore cannot be used in calculating whether or not he is a habitual offender.

A deferred judgment is defined as

a sentencing option whereby both the adjudication of guilt and the imposition of a sentence are deferred by the court and whereby the court assesses a civil penalty as provided in section 907.14 upon the entry of the deferred judgment. The court retains the power to pronounce judgment and impose sentence subject to the defendant's compliance with conditions set by the court as a requirement of the deferred judgment.

Iowa Code § 907.1(1).

The word “conviction” is defined in chapter 321 but does not include a deferred judgment. *See* Iowa Code § 321.1(15). Nonetheless, the word “conviction” may be ambiguous, and “may have different meanings within different contexts.”

*State v. Kluesner*, 389 N.W.2d 370, 372 (Iowa 1986).

[T]echnically the word means the final consummation of the prosecution against the accused including the judgment or sentence rendered pursuant to an ascertainment of his guilt.

In its general and popular sense and frequently in its ordinary legal sense, the word ‘conviction’ is used in the sense of establishment of guilt prior to and independently of judgment and sentence by a verdict of guilty or a plea of guilty.

*Id.* (quoting *State v. Hanna*, 179 N.W.2d 503, 508 (Iowa 1970)).

Here, “conviction” must be given a narrow meaning because of the severe punitive consequences that flow from § 321.555, in addition to its protective nature. *See State v. Tong*, 805 N.W.2d 599 (Iowa 2011). By entering a deferred judgment, the court retained its power to enter judgment *at a later time*, and the case is by no means final. On May 6, 2019, Johnston was discharged from probation and the

eluding charge was expunged from his record. Therefore, it is inconsistent with the purpose of a deferred judgment to punish Johnston for the “conviction.” The statute’s purpose must be considered in this respect, and the statute should be construed in favor of Johnston, meaning the deferred judgment on the eluding charge should not count as a conviction.

In *Schilling vs. Iowa Department of Transportation*, the Court determined a deferred judgment is a final conviction for purposes of the driver’s license revocation statute. 646 N.W.2d 69, 73 (Iowa 2002). The Court based this determination partly on “whether the license revocation is aimed at the protection of the public or as a punishment measure.” *Id.* at 73. The *Schilling* Court’s primary factor in reaching this conclusion was a determination the suspension did not serve the purpose of increasing the offender’s criminal punishment. *Tong*, 805 N.W.2d 599, 602 (Iowa 2011). Subsequently, the Court in *Tong* limited the ruling in *Schilling* when applied to laws which serve the dual purpose of both protecting the public and increasing a criminal offender’s punishment. *See id.* (finding the distinction made in *Schilling* unhelpful when the statute serves the dual purpose of punishment and protection).

The eluding statute cited as the basis for the deferred judgment—and applied as one of Johnston’s convictions—sustains the same dual purpose as the felon in possession statute examined in *Tong*. *See* Iowa Code § 321.279 (defining the criminal offenses warranted upon a conviction for eluding a law enforcement

vehicle). In light of *Tong*, the use of the eluding statute for the dual legislative purposes of protecting the community and punishing the offending driver requires consideration of what qualifies as a conviction. Because the statute cannot logically be read to only serve the purpose of community protection, a deferred judgment with potential—but unrealized punitive consequences—is inconsistent with what constitutes a final conviction for the purposes of the habitual offender status and cannot be included as support for the Department’s revocation of Johnston’s driving privileges.

It should further be noted, using *Tong*, and applying its principles here, the habitual offender statute, Iowa Code section 321.555, while protecting the community, further punishes Johnston even after his conviction. As explained above, Johnston is looking at a five-year bar of his driving privileges. Under most scenarios, even though this bar is present, an individual labeled as a habitual offender would still be able to procure a temporary restricted license and operate a motor vehicle as long as certain requirements are met. *See generally* Iowa Code § 321.215. However, in Johnston’s case, since he pled guilty to an eluding charge in violation of Iowa Code section 321.279, and even though he received a deferred judgment, the IDOT will not even grant him a temporary restricted license. Iowa Code § 321.215(1)(b). Understanding that the right to operate a motor vehicle is a privilege and not a right, this is not protecting the community, this is punishing Johnston for the

next five (5) years for crimes committed some five years and eleven months apart. The statute, as applied by the IDOT, protects the community and further punishes Johnston. Therefore, based upon the protection and punishment increasement of Iowa Code section 321.555, Johnston's deferred judgment should not be considered a conviction. *See Tong*, 805 N.W.2d at 602.

Since a conviction and final judgment has not been entered on Johnston's eluding charge, the IDOT cannot use the charge for the purposes of calculating whether or not Johnston is a habitual offender and the IDOT was wrong in doing so.

**B. The Appropriate Barometer for Determining Whether an Individual is a Habitual Offender Under Iowa Code Section 321.555(1) is the Date of the Predicate Convictions**

**1. Preservation of Error**

Johnston argues the date of conviction should determine whether an individual is a habitual offender under Iowa Code section 321.555(1) was raised in both the administrative and district court levels and ruled upon by the district court. (App. 15-17). Error preservation "requires that issues must be presented to and passed upon by the district court before they can be raised and decided on appeal." *Metz*, 581 N.W.2d at 600. Error has therefore been preserved on this issue.

**2. Argument**

Assuming Johnston's deferred judgment is includible, the next issue this Court must determine is whether the proper timestamp for a violation under

§ 321.555(1) is the date of *offense* or the date of *conviction*. The difference is material, as Johnston is a habitual offender under the former but not the latter.

A plain reading of the statute shows the date of conviction to be a logical and clear timestamp to determine whether three violations occurred within a six-year period. *See Shaw v. Soo Line R.R. Co.*, 463 N.W.2d 51, 54 (Iowa 1990) (“Any speculation about the legislature’s intent . . . cannot displace the plain meaning [of the statute].”). Iowa Code section 321.555 defines “habitual offender” as a person who has “accumulated convictions” and requires that each conviction be “final” and must have “been rendered.” *See State v. Schweitzer*, 646 N.W.2d 117, 120 (Iowa Ct. App. 2002) (“A statute should be construed so that effect will be given to all of its provisions, and no part is superfluous or void.”). The ability to suspend the license of an individual as a habitual offender under section 321.555(1) thus turns on whether a criminal proceeding was instituted, and a conviction obtained for the qualifying offenses.

Under the current statutory framework, the IDOT cannot make the required *prima facie* showing of moving violations until a final conviction is entered. *See* Iowa Code § 321.1(15) (“‘Conviction’ means a final conviction . . . .”). The conviction itself thus becomes a required element to support adjudication of a defendant as a habitual offender. The IDOT’s argument that the date of offense is the appropriate benchmark would lead to the absurd result that an individual could

be labeled a habitual offender prior to the ripening of all required elements. *See Gospel Assemb. Church v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue*, 368 N.W.2d 158, 161 (Iowa 1985) (applying the doctrine of ripeness to agency action to prevent unnecessary advisory decisions by Iowa courts). This absurdity is further seen due to the fact the IDOT does not revoke an individual's right to operate a motor vehicle until after they have been convicted of eluding. Iowa Code § 321.209.

The ALJ and the District Court relied on *State v. Phelps* for the proposition that the phrase “for which final convictions have been rendered” is apparently superfluous. (Order on Judicial Review, p. 5). *See also State v. Phelps*, 417 N.W.2d 460 (Iowa 1988). Yet since *Phelps* was decided, the Iowa Supreme Court has noted on several occasions that *conviction date* is the proper yardstick under § 321.555. *See State v. Brauer*, 540 N.W.2d 442, 443 (Iowa 1995) (“Iowa Code section 321.555(1) defines a habitual offender as a person who has three or more convictions for specified offenses within a six-year period.”); *Iowa Dep't of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 539 N.W.2d 191, 193 (Iowa 1995) (“Section 321.555(1) provides that any person found guilty of three or more listed traffic offenses within a six-year period shall be considered an habitual offender.”). And in any event, the *Phelps* Court interpreted subsection two of the statute, not subsection one. *See* 417 N.W.2d at 461. Those subsections are not worded identically. *Compare* Iowa Code § 321.555(1), *with id.* § 321.555(2). To the extent *Phelps* relied on specifically

worded legislative enactments, it would be antithetical to now rely on that caselaw because it's 'close enough.' See *Iowa Dep't of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 530 N.W.2d 725, 727 (Iowa 1995) ("The statutory scheme [of § 321.555] evidences a legislative intent to distinction these subsections . . .").

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