#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### NO. 19-0048

# DAVID MICHAEL JOHNSTON,

Petitioner-Appellant,

VS.

# IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent-Appellee.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JEANIE VAUDT

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

MICHELLE E. RABE
Assistant Attorney General
Iowa Attorney General's Office
800 Lincoln Way
Ames, Iowa 50010
(515) 239-1178 / FAX (515) 239-1609
michelle.rabe@dot.iowa.gov
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

# **

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

. . .

[W]e hold a deferred judgment constitutes a conviction for purposes of section 724.26 where the defendant (as here) has not completed his term of probation.

Tong, 805 N.W.2d at 602-603.

Simply put, there is nothing distinguishable about the present case to remove it from the purview of this Court's holding in *Schilling*. The district court was correct in holding as follows:

It is well settled under controlling Iowa case law that a deferred judgment does constitute a conviction for purposes of administrative action under the facts presented here. [Petitioner's argument was addressed and rejected by the Iowa Supreme Court (the Court) in *Schilling v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 69, 73 (Iowa 2002). The Schilling decision is still good law for the purposes of the instant matter.

# App. at 12.

As the district court noted, "existing case law, particularly *Schilling*, makes it clear that [petitioner's] deferred judgment for a conviction for eluding qualifies as a 'final conviction' for the purposes of section 321.555." App. at 14. Thus, since petitioner's first argument has already been squarely decided by established legal precedent, it fails.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT IT IS THE DATE OF OFFENSE, NOT THE CONVICTION, **OF** WHICH IS CONTROLLING **OF** FOR **PURPOSES** DETERMINING THE **IMPOSITION** OF THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE.

#### **Error Preservation**

This issue was presented to the district court and petitioner's notice of appeal from the decision of the district court was timely filed. Therefore, petitioner is correct in his assertion that error has been preserved as to this issue.

## **Scope of Review**

When exercising its power of judicial review of agency action, the district court functions in an appellate capacity to correct errors of law by the agency. *Northwestern Bell Telephone Co. v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n*, 359 N.W.2d 491, 492 (Iowa 1984); *Willett v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 572 N.W.2d 172, 173-174 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (citing *Teleconnect v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n*, 404 N.W.2d 158, 161-62 (Iowa 1987)). In the review of the district court's action, the Iowa appellate courts "merely apply the standards of section [17A.19(10)] to the agency action to determine whether [the] conclusions [of the appellate court] are the same as

those of the district court." *Northwestern Bell Telephone Co.*, 359 N.W.2d at 492; *Willett*, 572 N.W.2d at 174.

The appellate court should not interfere on judicial review unless it finds Mr. Johnston carried his burden of proof as a matter of law. *Heidemann v. Sweitzer*, 375 N.W.2d 665, 670 (Iowa 1985). The licensee's burden of proof is to show "compliance with all lawful requirements for the retention of the license." *Mary v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 382 N.W.2d 128, 132 (Iowa 1986). The heavy burden of proving a lack of substantial evidence is on the driver. *Missman v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 653 N.W.2d 363, 367 (Iowa 2002); *Lee v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 693 N.W.2d 342 (Iowa 2005). This Court need only scrutinize the record to see if there is substantial evidence supporting the agency's decision.

Pursuant to Iowa Code section 321.2(1), "[t]he state department of transportation shall administer and enforce the provisions of this chapter." Petitioner's driving privileges were revoked pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 321. In fact, as the underlying facts are not in dispute, the record evidence could fail to support the agency action in this matter **only** if a reviewing court were to examine the relevant statutes and hold as a matter of law that the agency's actions exceeded its statutory authority and unjustifiably

applied law to fact. See Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10-11 (Iowa 2010); Good v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 368 N.W.2d 151, 155 (Iowa 1985).

The resolution of the issue at hand involves the agency's application of law to the facts. The legislature clearly vested the agency with the application of the law to the facts. We are required to give the agency appropriate deference because the legislature vested the application of the law to the facts with the agency. *Id.* §17A.19(11)(c). We give the agency the appropriate deference by only reversing or modifying the agency action "upon an irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable application of law to fact."

*Drake University v. Davis*, 769 N.W.2d 176, 182 (Iowa 2009).

Just as this Court held in *Drake*, above, so does the case at hand rest on the agency's application of law to the facts. Since this matter has been properly vested by law with the agency, it follows that, pursuant to Iowa Code section 17A.19(11)(c), deference is to be given to the agency's decision. Thus, reversal is appropriate only if the agency's application of the law was irrational, illogical or wholly unjustifiable.

# Argument

Petitioner asserts that the agency erred in using the dates the qualifying offenses occurred rather than the dates of conviction in imposing the habitual offender bar. The ALJ, the agency and the district court all

rejected petitioner's argument on this issue as well. As the ALJ correctly noted, "[t]he Iowa Supreme Court has addressed this argument and specifically found that the date the violations were committed, not the conviction date, controls the time period for determination of the habitual offender statute." App. at 5. *See State v. Phelps*, 417 N.W.2d 460, 462 (Iowa 1998) ("Accordingly, we hold that the two-year time period in the [then habitual offender statute] defines the time within which the violations, not convictions, must have occurred.") The district court echoed this holding in its conclusion that *Phelps* is controlling as to this issue.

Petitioner relies on *State v. Brauer*, 540 N.W.2d 442 (Iowa 1995), in support of his argument that, despite *Phelps*, conviction dates are the "proper yardstick" under Iowa Code section 321.555. This reliance is similarly misplaced and was discussed at length by the district court.

In *Brauer*, the Court briefly stated, without analysis, that "Iowa Code section 321.555(1) defines a habitual offender as a person who has three or more convictions for specified offenses within a six-year period." *Id* at 443. The issue in *Brauer* was whether the district court had discretion to refuse to adjudicate a driver as a habitual offender. *Id*. The *Brauer* Court did not address what David casts as a contradiction between the *Brauer* holding with the *Phelps* Court's conclusion that the violation date, and not the conviction date, controls the time frame for determining habitual offender status.

There is no contradiction. The *Brauer* court said what it said in getting to the issue it addressed which, as noted above, did not concern the interpretation of either "offense" or "conviction" in section 321.555(1) or 321.555(2) nor the interrelationship between the two provisions. Brauer's progeny is likewise silent on the argument David poses here. *Heineman v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, No. 07-0089, 2007 WL 2711016, at \*2(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 19, 2007) (finding substantial evidence supported conclusion that Heineman was convicted six times and thus was a habitual offender, citing *Brauer* as controlling).

# App. at 15-16.

The district court was correct in rejecting petitioner's argument and going on to conclude that "[f]or the purposes of the record presented to the court, the passing reference in *Brauer* that [petitioner] hinges his argument upon is dicta. Furthermore, his argument runs contrary to the *in pari materia* doctrine, which requires related statutory provisions relevant to the subject matter at issue to be construed together and harmonized. *State v. Hensley*, 911 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 2018)." App. at 17.

The district court also discussed the legislative history of Iowa Code section 321.555, which supports the holding in *Phelps*.

Furthermore, the legislative history of section 331.555(1) suggests the legislature intended to focus on offenses rather than convictions in section 331.555(1), as noted by the reviewing officer on intra-agency appeal:

The General Assembly passed the Habitual Offender Act in 1974. At that time, section 321.555(1) read as follows: "Three or more *convictions* within a six-year period, of the following offenses, either singularly or in combination . . . ." Six years later, the statute was amended to read,

"Three or more of the following *offenses*, either singularly or in combination, within a six-year period. . . ." *See* 1980 Iowa Acts, ch. 1103, sec. 15. As it has been amended, section 321.555(1) clearly refers to three or more offenses, not convictions, within a six-year period. When a statute is plain and its meaning is clear—like this statute—we should not reach for meaning beyond its express terms. *State v. Landals*, 465 N.W.2d 660 (Iowa 1991). Moreover, the language "for which final convictions have been rendered" does not qualify a time frame required for such convictions. *State v. Phelps*, 417 N.W.2d 460 (Iowa 1988).

(07/31/18 Final Agency Order; Certified Agency Record at p. 4, ¶ 1) (emphasis added).

There is no legal precedent for the argument petitioner advances here. App. at 16-17.

The district court went on look at the entirety of petitioner's argument and properly concluded as follows:

The court is unaware of any reported case law—and the parties pointed to none—giving the court any direction as to why section 321.555(1) should be construed to require using a date of conviction for determining habitual offender status, while a date of offense should be used for determining habitual offender status under section 321.555(2)—a related section that directly follows section 321.555(1) in the Iowa Code and deals with the same subject matter. Both provisions when compared contain remarkably similar language. Finally, if there is a need

to clarify the language employed in these two provisions, that option is within the purview of the Iowa legislature in the first instance, who saw fit in 1980 to amend section 321.555(1) to say what it says now.

For all of the reasons discussed above, David's argument that the IDOT erred in using offense dates rather than conviction dates fails.

App. at 17.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD "PURSUING" THE **ISSUE OF IOWA** REFERENCED IN CODE **SECTION** 321.555(1)(G) AS ANELEMENT **OF** AN**ADMINISTRATIVE LICENSE** REVOCATION WAS NOT PROPERTLY PRESERVED REVIEW.

#### **Error Preservation**

As previously stated, notice of appeal from the decision of the district court was timely filed. However, this issue was not properly raised in the administrative tribunal, nor did respondent otherwise have notice, and therefore, as the district court correctly held, it has not been preserved for review.

## **Scope of Review**

Because this issue was neither presented nor decided by the district court, it has not been preserved for appeal. That argument notwithstanding, should this Court address the issue, the standard of review is correction for errors of law. *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002). Although this Court is not bound by the district court's legal conclusions, it is bound by the district court's findings of fact if they are supported by substantial evidence. *McCormick v. Meyer*, 582 N.W.2d 141, 144 (Iowa 1998).

#### Argument

It is well settled that the appellate court's review is limited to questions considered by the administrative agency. *Ahrendsen v. Iowa Dept. of Human Services*, 613 N.W.2d 674 (Iowa 2000); *see also Soo Line R. Co. v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 521 N.W.2d 685 (Iowa 1994). It is well settled that issues on appeal not raised below in the proper forum are deemed waived. *State v. Meyers*, 799 N.W.2d 132, 147 (Iowa 2011). Issues must be both raised and decided by the district court in order to be preserved for review. *Meier v. Senecaut, supra*.

The agency record in this matter is completely devoid of any mention of petitioner's argument regarding the definition of "pursuing" in connection with an administrative license revocation under Iowa Code section 321.555 as petitioner raised it for the first time in his appeal to the district court.

A careful review of the certified agency record confirms that David's argument on this point was not presented to, and thus not considered by, the agency because David did not raise this argument in front of the agency. David raised this issue for the first time in his judicial review brief to the district court.

Iowa Code section 17A.19(7) mandates that "[i]n proceedings for judicial review of agency action in a contested case . . . a court shall not itself hear any further evidence with respect to those issues of fact whose determination was entrusted by the Constitution or a statute to the agency in that contested case proceeding. Iowa Code §17A.19(7). It is well settled that an appellate court's review "is limited to questions considered by the [administrative] agency." Ahrendsen v. Iowa Dep't of Human Servs., 613 N.W.2d 674, 676 (Iowa 2000); Soo Line R.R. Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 521 N.W.2d 685, 688 (Iowa 1994). In Schaefer v. Iowa Department of Transportation, No. 02-0580, 2002 WL 1842482, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 14, 2002), the court held that a motorist whose driver's license was revoked for one year for OWI did not preserve, for purposes of appeal, his claim that he was denied due process of law since he raised that claim for the first time on appeal.

App. at 18.

Since this issue was neither advanced in front of, nor considered by, the agency, it has not been properly preserved for consideration on judicial review. However, should this Court nonetheless decide to consider the issue, there simply is no such legal requirement that the department present additional evidence regarding "pursuit" before using Iowa Code section 321.555(1)(g) as a basis for imposing a habitual offender bar. Petitioner's argument that the language of 321.555(1)(g) somehow imposes an extra burden on the department to show the element of "pursuing" is entirely lacking in legal merit. There is no material distinction between the requirements for a conviction under the criminal statute for eluding and the habitual offender language of Iowa Code section 321.555(1)(g), which specifically provides that "eluding or attempting to elude a pursuing law enforcement vehicle in violation of section 231.279."

The fact that petitioner was convicted of eluding under Iowa Code section 321.279 unquestionably invokes the habitual offender definitional provision of section 321.555(1)(g), and it defies all known legal authority to conclude that an agency would be required to prove additional elements of a criminal charge before taking administrative action based on a conviction of said criminal charge. When petitioner was convicted of eluding under Iowa Code section 321.279, the department's action under section 321.556 in imposing a bar on petitioner's driving privileges as a habitual offender,

based in part on the eluding conviction as provided in section 321.555(1)(g), was lawful in all respects.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the petitioner to prevail on his first two arguments in the matter at hand, he is asking this Court to disregard legal precedent and overturn not one but two of its previous decisions. As this Court has noted on numerous occasions, "[t]he Supreme Court does not overturn its precedents lightly and will not do so absent a showing the prior decision was clearly erroneous." *McElroy v. State*, 703 N.W.2d 385, 394 (Iowa 2005). "From the very beginnings of this court, we have guarded the venerable doctrine of stare decisis and required the highest possible showing that a precedent should be overruled before taking such a step." *Id.*, citing *Kiesau v. Bantz*, 686 N.W.2d 164, 180 (Iowa 2004). No such showing has been made here.

Petitioner's remaining argument regarding the definition of "pursuing" in connection with the imposition of a habitual offender sanction under Iowa Code section 321.555 was not preserved for appeal. Just as the district court "respectfully decline[d] [petitioner's] invitation to ignore our long standing error preservation rules," (App. at 19), so should this Court here.

As recognized by the district court, the respondent's decision to impose a five-year bar on petitioner's driving privileges as a habitual offender under Iowa Code section 321.555 is supported by substantial evidence, and the district court's decision in upholding the agency was not erroneous in any manner. Rather, it was based on the well-reasoned application of existing case law to the facts at hand. Since there is no legal error for this Court to correct, this case should be affirmed in its entirety.

# REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellee hereby requests oral argument upon submission of this case.

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa